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BONONI LAW GROUP, LLP
William S. Waldo (State Bar No. 073973)
Michael J. Bononi (State Bar No, 130663)
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SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA
FOR THE COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES, CENTRAL DISTRICT

KAYDEN NGUYEN, an individual, ) Case No. ApS S 4
Plaintiff, ) W
vs. Y  COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES:
STEVEN SEAGAL, individuslly, and as an % 1.  SEXUAL HARASSMENT;
employer entity; STEAMROLLER ) 2.  ILLEGAL TRAFFICKING OF
PRODUCTIONS, a California corporation ) FEMALES FOR SEX;
and/or limited liability partnership; MOJO )y 3. FAILURE TO PREVENT
PRIEST, INC., a California corporation; and ) SEXUAL HARASSMENT;
DOES 1 through 50, inclusive, ) 4 RETALIATION;
) 5.  WRONGFUL TERMINATION
Defendants. ) N VIOLATION OF PUBLIC
) POLICY; AND
) 6 FALSE REPRESENTATIONS
% ABOUT EMPLOYMENT
; DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

Plaintiff alleges as follows on knowledge as to herself and her own acts, andon ZE
. . =
'mfgnnation and belief as to all other matters: g2gg & = %
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n February 2010, Plaintiff Kayden Nguyen (“Nguyen”), a 23 year old former model,
noticed a Craigslist ad for an executive assistant job at a production company. Ms. Nguyen
responded to the ad and included a photograph with her resume.

Ms. Nguyen was repeatedly interviewed over the next three days. She was told that the
job involved standard clerical functions as the Executive Assistant for Steven Seagal (“Seagal”)
and his production company. Ms. Nguyen was told that she would be replacing another |
individual who had recently quit. At the end of her last interview, Mr. Seagal told Ms. Nguyen
to run home and pack so she could board a private plane to New Orleans later that afternoon with
Mr. Seagal and the production crew of his television show “Steven Seagal Lawman.”

When Ms. Nguyen atrived in New Orleans she learned that the job she was expected to
petform had nothing to do with being an “Executive Assistant.” Ms. Nguyen learned that Mr.
Seagal had been keeping two young female Russian “Attendants” on staff who were available
for his sexual needs 24 hours a day, 7 days a week. It was one of these “Attendants” who had
recently quit, creating the opening that Ms. Nguyen was apparently intended to fill. Ms. Nguyen
was ushered to a secluded house i the middle of nowhere that Mr. Seagal was staying in with
his wife and the two ferale Russian “Attendants.” '

Her first night at the house, Mr. Seagal demanded that Ms. Nguyen give him a
“massage.” He then proceeded to treat Ms. Nguyen as hig sex toy. Mr. Seagal’s physical and

“ scxual assault of Ms, Nguyen that night, over bher objections, included:

. Pushing his hands under her shirt and attempting to fondle her bare
4  Dreasts, '

il
L

Forcing her head against his bare chest.

PLAINTIFF’S DAMAGES

1 EONONI LAW CROUP




o e ~u & Wn » Wb

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21

23
24
25
26
27
28

. Grabbing her leg and forcing it over hig body, and then forcing his hand
down her panté between her bare buttocks.
. Responding to Ms. Nguym’s terror with the order to “relax,” “we won't
do anything special tonight. I’ll save that for another night.”
. Reminding Ms. Nguyen as she fled, “remember confidentiality. You
aren’t allowed to tell anybody . .. ."
l Ms. Nguyen immediately complained the next morning. In order to “keep the star
[ happy,” nothing was said or done.
Within hours of ber complaint, Mr, Seagal physically sexually assaulted Ms. Nguyen for
the second time when he:
. Forcibly held her legs apart.
. Forced his hand down her pants into her vagina.
. Continued the forcible penetration of her vagina until she sobbed so
loudly that he stopped.
. Forced her to consume illegal pills before he let her leave,

L-% The following morning when Ms. Nguyen immediately complaincd for the second time,
/

shelwas told she had to talk to Mr. Seagal. When Ms. Nguyen spoke with Mr. Seagal as ordered,
£

he e}:la:imed that there was a “misunderstanding.”

G

PLAINTIFE'S COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES
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Mr. Seagal’s third physical sexual assault of Ms. Nguyen occurred only a few hours after
her second complaint, Mr. Seagal forcibly lifted Ms. Nguyen's blouse, forced his head on ber
bare chest, and attempted to suck her breasts and nipples. He stopped only when she ran.

In order to escape from the house, on Sunday, February 28, 2010, Ms, Nguyen told Mr.
Seagal that she was meeting family members visiting from out of state. Mr. Seagal initially told
her she couldn’t leave the house. She told him that it would look su;'spicious if she did not at
least see her family members for a few hours, and called a cab,

After trying for almost three hours to persuade a cab to come 1o the remote house, one
finally pulled into the drveway at around 11:00 p.m. .

As Ms. Nguyen tan to the cab, Mr. Seagal followed a few steps behind, shining a
flashlight with a gun attached to it.

Ms. Nguyen jumped into the front seat of thc cab and begged the driver to get her away
from the house as fast as he could, She fled the house and never came back. My. Nguyen was in
such fear for her personal safety that she left behind everything of value she owned, including
her car keys, her laptop, her clothes, and hundreds of dollars worth of makeup.

When Ms. Nguyen later refused to sign a release promising not to sue for the sexual

 assaults, she was told that she couldn’t get her personal belongings back unless she signed the

' release. All of the personal property Ms. Nguyen left at the house when she fled has yet to be

returned,
11,
PARTIES

1. At all times mentioned herein, Plaintiff Kayden Nguyen (“Plaintiff” or
“Nguyeﬂ"): wag a California employee of Defendants and a'rqsident of the County of Los
A);:geles, State of California. A

? 2. Defendant Steven Seagal (“Seagal”) is both an individual and employer who at all
tinkps mentioned in this Complaint resided in, was an employer in, and had his principal place of

business in, the County of Los Angeles, State of California.

PLAINTIFF'S COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES
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3. At all times mentioned herein, Mr. Seagal was an employee and/or agent of the
other Defendants herein, and in doing the things hereinafter alleged, was acting, at least in part,
within the course, scope, and authority of such relationship.

4, At all times mentioned herein, Defendant Steamroller Productions was and is a
cotporation and/or limited liability partnership organized under the laws of; the State of
California, and having it principal place of business in the County of Los Angeles, State of
California. '

5. On information and belief, at all times mentioned herein, Mr. Seagal was an
employee, owner, officer, director, and/or managing agent of Defendant Steamroller
Productions.

6. At all times mentioned herein, Defendant Mojo Priest, Inc. (“Mojo Priest”) was
and is a corporation organized under the laws of the State of California, and having it principal
place of business in the County of Los Angeles, State of California.

7. On information and belief, at all times mentioned herein, Mr. Seagal was an
employee, ownet, officet, director, and/or managing agent of Defendant Mojo Priest.

8. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and based thereon alleges, that Defendants
Seagal, and/or Steamroller Productions, and/or Mojo Priest, and/or DOES 1-50, uscd the various
cotporate names, entities, and relationships in order to perpetuate a fraud, circumvent a statute,
or accomplish some other wrongful or incquitable purpose, thereby justifying the court in
disregarding the corporate entity and deeming each of the Defendants” acts to be those of the
other individual and/or corporate Defendants, and warranting the application of the “alter ego”
doctrine to the conduct of Defendants Segal, Steamroller Productions, and/or Majo Priest.

"9 Plaintiff is informed and belicves and thereon atleges that at all material times
hei'gein mentioned, each of the Defendants named in the caption and each DOE Defendant was an
agé_m, employee and/or partner of the remaining Defendants, including the DOE Defendants,
ang’, in doing the things herein alleged, was acting within the scope of such agency, employment

27 Fl ané'ior partnership with the permission, authority and consent of his or her co-Defendants.

PLAINTIFF°S COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES
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- 10.  Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that each business entity of
Defendants, whether corporate, partnership, joint venture, unincorporated association, public
entity, or other business entity of unknown form, and whether named or sued by fictitious name,
is and, at all times mentioned herein was, in some manner involved in the ownership and/or
operation of the Defendant corporations herein. Each of the individual Defendants, whether
named or sued by fictitious name, whether scting in an individual capacity or within or without
fl their capacity as managerial agent, servant, cmplqyee, officer, director, partner, or joint venturer
of each of the business entity of Defendants aforementioned, in committing the acts or omissions
s alleged herein which resulted in damage to Plaintiff, is and at all tires meutioned herein was
also in some manner involved in the ownership and/or operation of said Defendant corporations,
if any, and in doing the things herein alleged was acting with the permission and consent and/or
l knowledge, authorization ox ratification of each of the business entity Defendants mentioned
above, unless otherwise stated herein.

11.  Plaintiff is ignorant of the true names and capacities of Defendants sued herein as

|| DOES 1 through 50, inclusive, and therefore sues these Defendants by such fictitious names.

Plaintiff will amend this complaint to allege the true names and capacities of said Defendants
when the same has been ascertained. Plaintiff is informed and believes and therson alleges that

each of the fictitiously named Defendants is responsible in some manner for the acts complained

of herein.” Unless otherwise stated, all references to named Defendants shall include the Doe
Defendants as well. |
1.
“FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

12.  Ms. Nguyen is a 23-year old female.

. A
A

13,  Ms. Nguyen has financially supported herself since she was 18 years old through

e

3
L v

a vijtiety of full and part-time jobs. She was an aspiring professional model. In February 2010,

she was enrolled in college where she was studying to be an air traffic controller.

PLAINTIFI'S COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES
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14.  OnFriday, February 19, 2010, Ms. Nguyen sent her resume and photograph in

response to a posting she noticed on Craigslist for an Executive Assistant job which read:
“Executive/Personal Assistant Wanted
Executive/Personal Assistant wanted. Home office in L.A. but will also be
working on a reality t.v. show in New Orleans, L.A. On-set experience
and foreign languages a plus but not a must. ' ’
Please email resume’s 10:

Within a couple of hours of sending her resume and picture to _

Ms. Nguyen received an email reply from Binh Dang (“Dang”), an executive from Steamroller
Productions. Mr. Dang asked Ms. Nguyen to give him her telephone number.

15. At 1:30 p.m. on Saturday, February 20, 2010, Mr. Dang telephoned Ms. Nguyen.
In that conversation, Mr. Dang told her that the job adventised on Craigslist was Steven Seagal’s
(“Sea@l”) Executive Assistant. Mr. Dang explained that the Executive Assistant job entailed
standard clerical duties such as filing , scheduling, and answering telephones. He also explained
that while the Executive Assistant job was Los Angeles based, when the television show “Steven
Seagal Lawman” was being shot on location, the production team temporarily worked in
New Orleans.

16.  Tn this same telephone call, Mr. Dang told Ms, Nguyen that he had reviewed het
resume and that she was flly qualified for the Executive Assistant job. Atthe end of the
conversation, Mr, Dang told Ms. Nguyen that the next step was an interview with Mr. Seagal on
Monday, February 22, 2010. He promised to call her later that weekend with further details.

17.  Atapproximately 10:00 p.m. on Sunday, February 21, 2010, Mr. Dang called Ms.
Ngifyen and told her that Shaun Fischer (“Fischer”), who was in his last week as Mr. Seagal’s
Exécuﬁve Assistant, would call hex in the morning of Monday, February 22, 2010 with the final
detZ;’ils about where and when she would interview with Mr, Seagal.

{ %} 18,  When Mr. Fischer called shortly before noon on Monday, February 2010, he told
Ms. Nguyen to meet M. Seagal at 1:30 p.m. ||

TIFF'S CO! FOR DAMA!
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where the camera crew was shooting a promo for the “Steven Seagal Lawman” television show.
When Ms. Nguyen asked Mr. Fischer about the next step after the interview, Mr. Fischer asked,
“Would you be willing to hop on a plane right after? We would need you immediately.”

19.  Atapproximately 1:25 p.m., Mr. Fischer called Ms. Nguyen and changed the
location of her job interview with Mr, Seagal _

20.  When Mr. Seagal intervicwed Ms, Nguyen around 3 ;00 p.m., be asked standard
questions about her experience, other jobs she had held, and her training.

21.  Atthe end of the interview, Mr. Seagal said, “1 like you, so we’re going to keep
you. We’ll send a driver to your house $0 you can drop off your car. I'll interview you one
more time bofore we hop on the plane, If I like you, we’ll take you. If not, we’ll have the driver
take you back home.” .

22. Defendants’® limousine followed Ms. Nguyen home from the job interview and
| waited while she spent about three minutes packing whatever she could throw in her suitcase.

23.  As Defendants’ limousine sped toward the airport, Mr. Fischer frantically called
and texted Ms. Nguyen to make sure that she was coming and urged her to get there as fast as
possible. 'When Ms. Nguyen arrived at the airport and began walking toward the awaiting
private jet, Mr. Fischer sternly cautioned, “You aren’t allowed 1o speak about Steven Seagal.
You cannot tell anyone, not even your family, who you are working for or what you are doing,

do you understand me?” When Ms. Nguyen replied “yes,” she was allowed to board the private
ﬁ jet for her “final interview™ with Mr. Seagal. Seated one row away from Mr. Seagal during the
interview was Simon Hobbs, a producer from ITV Studios, one of Mr. Seagal’s business partners
in production of “Steven Seagal Lawman.”

24. M. Seagal’s “final interview” consisted of only one question, “Are you sure you
w&ﬁldn’t mind helping my wife around the house if she asked you to do something?” While the
questlon seemed strange given the description of the Executive Assistant ¢lerical job duties she
haui{ been given, Ms. Nguyen replied, “I would have no problem helping your wife if she needed
it.’éis M. Seagal then signaled Mz, Fischer that it was okay for the jet to take off. Ms. Mguyen
believed that she had found the dream job of a lifetime.

PLAINTIFF'S COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES
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1
2 H “I*tn & family man, and I live with my wife, but she wouldn’t care if you were my lover.” Ms.

25.  As thejet taxied down the runway, M. Seagal turned to Ms. Nguyen and said,

Nguyen was startled, and gave Mr. Scagal a Yook of disbelief. Mr. Seagal continued, “My wife
wouldn’t mind if you and 1 had a sexual relationship.” Those wotds left Mr. Seagal’s mouth as
the jet lifted off the runway.

26. Ms. Nguyen's concerns about the Executive Assistant job grew when she was
told during the flight that in New Orleans, she would be required to live in the same house with
M. Seagal. Believing that the whole production staff, male and female, would live in that
house, Ms. Nguyen decided to take a wait and see attitude.

27.  The passengets on the private jct from Los Angeles 10 New Orleans included
ogoing Executive Assistant Fischer, Fischer’s newly hired replacement, Vanessa Johnson
(“Johnson™), and a Russian female appro-ximately 19 years old pamed “Sasha” [pseudo name
used to protect privacy] who Mr. Seagal introduced as his “Attendant.” On information and
belicf, tho other passengers were four members of the ITV Studios production crew, in addition
to TV Studios executive producer Simon Hobbs.

28.  The jet touched down in New Orleans late Monday night or early Tuesday
morning. Ms. Nguyen's workday, which had begun in Los Angeles, was far from over.

29, The house where Ms, Nguyen was required to live with Mr. Scagal was many
miles from New Orleans in a remote rural area of Jefferson Parish. After she amived at the
house, Ms. Nguyen learned that the only employees who were required to live in the same house
with Mr. Seagal were his two young Russian female “Attendants” and Mg. Nguyen. The male
production staff and Executive Assistant Johnson lived in separate housing away from Mt.
Seagal. | ‘

3} 30.  Once at the house, Ms. Nguyen was introduced to a second attractive young
Ru}zsian fernale named “Natasha” (pseudo name used to protect privacy), and told that ‘Natasha”
had just given notice and was leaving the next week.

(i
111

R

PLAINTIFF'S COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES
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31.  The house that Ms. Nguyen was required to live in with Mr. Seagal was located at

e > o o ol st ey

remote rutal area, it sits back more than one quarter mile from the road.

72, The house had two stories. The downstairs had an office, 2 family/living room, a
dining room, a kitchen with a breakfast nook area, and a master bedroom with its own bathroom.
Mr. Seagal slept by himself in the only downstairs bedroom. |

33.  The upstairs of the house had only bedrooms, bathrooms, and closets.

Mr. Seagal’s wife and baby slept in one upstairs bedroom. The baby’s nanny slept in another
upstairs bedroom. Attendants “Sasha” and “Natasha” shared one upstairs bedroom., Ms.
Nguyen’s “bedroom” was upstairs, but it did not have a door. The room was separated from the
hallway by red curtains which could be pulled back to expose the bed and the rest of the room.

34.  Atepproximately 2:00 a.m., Ms. Nguyen and Attendant “Sasha” asked Mr.
Seagal for penmssmn to go upstairs to go to bed. Mr. Seagal signaled that they could go.

35.  When Ms. Nguyen got 1o het room and began to wnpack, she discovered that in
her rush to pack, she had forgotten to bring a nightgown or pajamas, She planned to sleep in her
clothes that night until she could go to the store ti next day.

36.  As Ms. Nguyen prepared to get into her bed, Mr. Seagal appeared at her doorway
with “Sasha” in tow. Mr. Seagal ordered Ms. Nguyen to follow he and “Sasha” fo his bedroom
because he wanted a “massage.”

37, Ms, Nguyen bad received formal training as an ABA therapist, and assumed that
the “massage” Mr, Seagal expected was a professional therapeutic massage.

38.  Upon arriving at his bedroom, Mr. Seagal sprawled across his bed on his stomach.
Ms, Nguyen then noticed that Attendant “Gasha” was completely nude, with only a bathrobe
drapcd 1oosely over bor body. Ms. Nguyen was aghast as “Sasha” began massaging
MrL Seagal’s testicles as he rubbed his hands over “Sasha’s” bare breasts. As Ms. Nguyen began
mr;_tdly massaging Mr. Seagal’s legs, he lunged toward her chest and forced his hands under her
top%&nd onto her bare nipples. As Ms. Nguyen pulled M. Seagal’s hand off her breasts, he

P IFF°S CO AINT FOR D S
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reached his hand toward Ms. Nguyen’s head and dragged her head to his bare chest as he ordered
“Sasha” 1o leave,

| 39.  Ms. Nguyen was terrified as Mr. Seagal grabbed her leg, put it over his body, and
forced his hand down her bare buttocks, As Ms. Nguyen pushed herself away from Mr. Seagal,
he said “relax, we won’t do anything special tonight. T'11 save that for another night.”

40. AsMs. Nguyen retreated to her room, Mr. Seagal said, “Remember
confidentiality. You aren’t allowed to tell anybody, including your family anything about me.”
Ms. Nguyen’s workday which had begun in Los Angeles finally ended when she got to her
bedroom at approximately 4:00 a.m. on February 23, 2010. She had a sleepless night.

41.  In the early aftemoon of Tuesday, February 23, 2010, Ms. Nguyen went to the
office in the house and attempted to perform the “Executive Assistant” job duties that she was
told she would be doing when she took the job. As soon as Ms. Nguyen walked into the office,
Ms. Johnson announced that she (“Johnson”), not Nguyen, had been hired to replace
Mr. Fischer as Mr. Seagal’s “Executive Assistant.” Ms, Johnson said that she didn’t need and
hadn’t asked for any help doing the Executive Assistant job. |

42. When Mr, Fischer arrived at the office a few hours later, Ms. Nguyen confronted
him and asked him to cmiﬁrm that she was hired as Scagal’s Executive Assistant to perform
standard clerical job duties like filing, scheduling, and answering the telephone as had been
represented to her before she accepted the job, Mr. Fischer was evasive, and made vague
comments that Ms. Nguyen should answer the phones because Ms. Johnson had a speech
impediment. Ms. Nguyen then complained to Mr. Fischer at length about Mr. Seagal’s sexual
assault the previous night. She told Mr. Fischer that she wouldn"t have taken any job if she had
been told that the job duties included giving sex to Mr. Seagal. She was emphatic that under no
cir%:mstances was she going to give him sex or put up with any sexual assault. Mr. Fischer said
he ﬁgcmld talk to both Mr, Dang and Mr. Seagal about her complaint.

7 4. Ms Nguyen’s complaint notwithstanding, later that night, Mr. Seagal ordered
1

MﬁijN guyen and “Sasha” to watch TV in the downstairs family/living room with him. At
approximately 2:00 a.m. on Wednesday, February 24, 2010, Mr. Seagal announced that he

PLAINTIFF'S COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES
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wanted another “massage” and motioned to Ms. Nguyen and “Sasha” to follow him to his
bedroom. Believing that in response fo her complaint earlier that day, both Mr. Fischer and
Mr. Dang had made it clear to Mr. Seagal that she wasn’t going to tolerate his sexual assaults,
she agreed to give him a leg massage.

44.  Once in Mr. Seagal’s bedroom, “Sasha” began massaging Mr. Seagal’s back as
Ms. Nguyen massaged his legs. After approximately 70 minutes, Mr. Scagal abruptly ordered
“Sasha” to leave. As soon as “Sasha” exited the bedroom and before she could escape,
Mr, Seagal began a vicious sexual attack on Ms. Nguyen. Mr. Seagal held her right foot down
with his leg, and pushed her lcft knee up with his right hand, Mr. Seagal then forced his hand
l into Ms. Nguyen’s vagina. As Ms. Nguyen began sobbing, Mr. Seagal became sexually aroused
and had a unique physiological reaction to sexual atousal.
‘ : 45.  Ms. Nguyen can and will describe in great detail M, Sengal’s unique
physiological reaction to sexual arousal. Other females who have been present when Mr. Seagal

14 r has become sexually aroused will be able to verify the truthfulness of Ms. Nguyen’s factual

knowledge about the characteristics of Mr. Seagal’s unique physiological reaction.
46.  Mr .Seagal ordered Ms Nguyen to take some oval pills before she left his room.
Mr. Seagal told Ms. Nguyen that he had illegally procured the pills from Tibet. Ms. Nguyen

18 | believed that Mr. Segal would not let her leave unless she took the pills. Mr. Seagal handed her

19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

a bottle of water and watched as she chewed them.

47.  As soon as she could get out the doorway from Mr. Seagal, Ms. Nguyen ran to
her room. Her “work day” did not end until approximately 4:00 a.m. on Wednesday, February
24, 2010 when she finally crawled into bed,

48.  Ms. Nguyen could not sleep at all that night, and telephoned Mr. Dang in the
m%ning of Wednesday, February 24, 2010 to complain directly to him. Ms. Nguyen told
Mr;;iDang, “You hited me as an Executive Assistant, and lied to me about the‘ job.” Ms. Nguyen
told Mr. Dang that the Executive Assistant ad was a fraud, and that what the production
coéipany really wanted was an “Attendant” to provide sex on demand to Mr. Seagal because

“Natagha” had quit on short notice,

PLAINTIFF'S COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES
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49. Ms. Nguyen told Mr. Dang the details about Mr. Seagal’s sexual assaults the two
previous nights, that she had coraplained about it to Mr. Fischer the day before and was assured
that it would be taken care of, but that Mr, Seagal made an even more vicious sexual assault only
a few hours later.

50.  Mr. Dang continued lying to Ms. Nguyen, claiming that she had been hired to
perform the clerical duties of Executive Assistant. Mr. Dang told Ms. Nguyen that if she had a
problem with Mr. Seagal, she needed to talk to Mr. Seagal herself.

51,  Because Mr, Dang, one of the high level producers on Steven Seagal Lawman,
had given her an order to deal directly with the perpetrator of the sexual assaults if she wanted
them to stop, Ms. Nguyen immediatcly approached Mr. Seagal. Ms. Nguyen told Mr. Scagal
that she wasn’t hired as one of his “A@dMS” like “Basha” or “Natasha,” that she wasn’t going
to give him sex, and that she could not and would not take his assaults anymore. Mr. Seagal
claimed it was all “a misunderstanding.” |

52, Later that day after speaking with Mr. Seagal, Ms. Nguyen told Mr. Fischer that
she didn’t want the job anymore, that she had been repeatedly told before she took the job that
she would be an Executive Assistant performing clerical duties like filing, and that she was not
going to permit Mr. Seagal’s sexual assaults. Shortly thereafter, Ms. Nguyen overheard a
conversation where Mr. Fischer told Mr. Dang that she wanted to return to Los Angeles.

53, Not only was there no response to Ms. Nguyen's request to return to Los Angeles,
she was required to contitiue living in the same house with Mr. Seagal.

54.  Atapproximately 2:00 a.m. in the morning of Thursday, February 10, 2010,

Ms. Nguyen attempted to go to bed in her own room. As she was leaving to go upstairs, Mr,
Scagal demanded a “massage.” When Ms. Nguyen made the oxcuse that she was too tired to
givé a massage, Mr. Seagal then demanded to sec the tattoo on Ms. Nguyen’s right appendix,
Be:iieving that showing the tattoo was the only way she could escape, Ms. Nguyen lifted up her
tog’amund her waist just high enough to show the tattoo to Mr. Seagal. As Ms. Nguyen started
fo éhow hﬁr tattoo, Mr. Seagal forced his head up Ms. Nguyen’s top, put his mouth on her bare
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breasts, and began sucking her nipples. Ms. Nguyen pulled away from Mr. Seagal and ran to her
TOO.

55.  Fearing for her safety, Ms. Nguyen began plotting her escape from the house.

56.  Inthe afternoon of Thursdéy, February 25, 2010, Ms. Nguyen again asked to
speak with Mr. Dang in order to secure transportation back to Los Angeles. Mr. Dang told Ms.
Nguyen that he was too busy to talk with her that day.

57,  Friday, February 26, 2010 came and went, and Mr. Dang still didn’t speak with
Ms. Nguyen. In a conversation that day with Vaneesa Johnson, Ms. Johnson told Ms. Nguyen
that she bad responded in late January or early February to a Craigslist ad for the Executive
Assistant job, had been hired as Mr. Fischer's replacement in early February, and actually began
work in the Executive Assistant job at least a week before February 19, 2010 when Ms. Nguyen
responded to the Craigslist ad for an Executive Assistant. Ms. Johnson also confirmed that after
she was already hired as the Execufive Assistant replacement for Mr. Fischer, sex—cm-demand
% Attendant” “Natasha” unexpectedly quit.

58. ‘ Ms. Nguyen had no money, no plane ticket back to Los Angeles, and o means to
get away from the house. Her pleas to Mr. Dang and Mr. Fischer to go back to Los Angeles fell
on deaf ears. Her pleas to Mr. Seagal to stop the sexval assaults only made them worse. In order
to escape, Ms, Nguyen contacted close personal friends from Alabama and asked them to come
to New Orleans to rescue her. Ms. Nguyen's friends agreed to meet her in New Orleans in the
evening of Sunday, February 28, 2010, |

59.  On Sunday, February 28, 2010, Ms. Nguyen spent the entire day planning her
escape. When Ms. Nguyen told Mr. Seagal that she was meeting her “family” later that night
: after work, he initlally responded, “] don’t care if you tell them you’re working for me, just tell

thétn you can’t get off from work.
.l'

1 60, Ms. Nguyen told Mr. Seagal that she wouldn’t leave unti} late in the evening, but

o3

{l ins_%ted that because her “family” had come from out of state she had to see them.

Z} 61.  Mr. Seagal told her to get back to the house by the next morning. After repeated

unsuccessful attempts to coax a cab driver to come to the far away house, at approximately 11:00
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pm.  cab finally pulled into the driveway. Mr. Seagal followed Ms. Nguyen to the cab,
carrying a flashlight with a gun attached to it, Ms. Nguyen ran to the cab, and got into the front
seat nexi to the driver just ahead of Mr. Seagal, Fearing that Mr. Seagal would tell her to get out
of the cab and order the cab driver to leave, Ms, Nguyen told the driver that the man following
her was Steven Seagal, and to please get out of there as fast as he could.

62.  AsMr. Seagal shined the flashlight in the cab driver’s face, the dnver waived to
Mr. Seagal, said he was a fan, and began to drive off.

63.  As soon as the cab was out of Mr. Scagal’s eyesight, Ms, Nguyen broke down
into tears. Ms. Nguyen told the cab driver about Mr. Seagal’s abuse, and repeatedly thanked him
for helping her escape. As Ms. Nguyen told her story, she became so hysterical that the cab
driver remained swpped at a red light even aftex it turned green in order {0 comfort ber. The cab
driver took Ms. Nguyen to downtown New Orleans, where she met her friends.

64.  Ms. Nguyen was so afraid when she escaped the house that she left behind
cverything of valug that she owned, including (1) her car kéys; (2) all of hex clothes; (3) her only
laptop computer; and (4) several hundred dollars worth of makeup.

65. When Ms. Nguyen had not returned to the house by the afternoon of Monday,
March 1, 2010, Ms. Johnson, Mr. Dang, and Mr. Fischer began besieging her with telephone

- calls and text messages . As time passed, the calls got more desperate, but the message was the

same: come back to the house and sign a release promising not to sue.

66. Defendants repeatedly told Ms. Nguyen that they would pot pay her airfare back
to Los Angeles or return her petsonal property unless she came back to New Orleans and signed
arelease.

67. On Wednesday, March 3, 2010, Ms. Jolmson lef a lengthy voicemail message
telllng Ms. Nguyen that she would FedEx her car keys and enclose a release agreement in the
sax’he envelope, but that Mr. S¢agal would not return her personal possessions until he knew she
haqf signed the release and that it was in the mail.

ﬁ 68. Ms. Nguyen borrowed the monsy for airfare from a family member and paid her
own way back to Los Angeles.

PLAINTIFF'S COMPLAINT FOR DPAMAGES
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69. In retaliation for Ms. Nguyen's complaints about Defendants’ illegal conduct and
her refusal to sign a release absolving Defendants from liability, Defendants have continued to
retaliate against her. Among other retaliatory conduct, Defendants have still refused to return all
of Ms. Nguyen's personal propesty in their possession, custody, and control.

.
EXHAUSTION OF ADMINISTRATIVE REMEDIES

70.  Prior to the institution of this lawsﬁit, Ms. Nguyen filed complaints with the

| Catifornia Depsrtument of Fair Employment aod Housing (“DFER), and fully complied with all

10 || of the requirements set forth in California Government Code section 12960. The DFEH issued

11

“right to sue” Jetters in connection with the complaints, copies of which are attached hereto and

12 || marked as Exhibit “A.” All conditions precedent to the institution of all claims and/or causes of

13

action brought pursuant to the California Fair Employment and Housing Act, California

14 | Government Code sections 12900 et seq.(‘FEHA"),in this lawsuit have been fulfilled.

15

16 V.

17 FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION

18 “ XU VIOLATIO HA

19 jfornia men Sectio 00 et seq. and other relevant state statutes

20| (Against Defendants Seagal (in both his individual and cmployer capacities), Steamroller

21 Productions, Mojo Priest, and Does 1 through 50, inclusive)
22 71.  Plaintiff Nguyen realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 70,

23 | inclusive, of this Complaint as though fully set forth berein.

24 y 72 Defendants Seagal (in his employer capacity), Steamroller Productions, Mojo

é
55 || Pribst, Inc., and DOES 1-50, are each subject to the laws of the State of California and are

4

26 entifties subject to suit under FEHA for sexual harassment in that each of these Defendants is an
3
27 || emfjloyer who regularly employs one (1) or more persons.

280777
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73.  Defendant Seagal is also subject to personal liability under FEHA for sexual

harassment because he was an employee and/or officer, director, managing agent, or owner of an

employer who regularly employs one (1) or more persons. -
74.  FEHA prohibits unlawful harassment of females. FEHA specifically proscribes
the following conduct: '
“ (a) creating a work environment that is hostile or abusive on the basis of sex; ‘
(b) expressly or impliedly conditioning employment benefits on submission to or
tolerance of unwelcome sexual advances; |
(¢) assault, impeding or blocking physical movement, ot any physical
interference with the normal work or movement of females;
(d) conditioning an employment benefit upon an exchange of sexual favers;
(e) verbal, physical, or visual harassment because of sex;
(f) failing to prevent harassment or to protect the victims from harassment after
any complaint about conduct which may constitute sexual harassment; and
(g) failing to investigate any and all claims of sexual harassment, promptly,
sufficiently, and effectively, and failing to take prompt remedial action sufficient to prevent the
tecurtence of any unlawful sexual harassment.
75.  Defendants, and each of them, including the Doe Dcfendm_ts, violated FEHA, by
their own conduct or by authorizing or ratifying the conduct of others, by engaging in:

(a)  Mr. Seagal’s statement to Ms. Nguyen shortly before the plane took off
from Los Angeles that his wife “wouldn’t care if you wexe my lover” and
“wouldn’t mind if you and I had a sexual relationship.”

(b)  Impliedly conditioning employment benefits of the Executive Assistant

oo
1 e

job through representations made in California upon Ms. Nguyen’s

submission to and/or tolerance of Mr. Seagal’s unwelcome sexual

TN

advances.

[J

e L
Loy

()  Requiring Ms. Nguyen to watch as “Sasha” and Mr. Seagal performed sex

acts on each other.

" PLAINTIFE'S COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES
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(d  Repeated physical sexual assailts on Ms. Nguyen by Mr. Seagal.

(€)  Mr. Seagal’s impeding of Ms. Nguyen’s physical movement during and
after his physical sexual assaults of her.

)  Conditioning Ms. Nguyen’s continued employment upon the requirement
that she live in the same house as Mr. Seagal and be available to provide
“sex on call” to him 24 hours a day, 7 days a week.

(g) Failing to prevent the harassment complained of as herein above alleged,
or to protect Ms. Nguyen from harassing conduct after she complained
about that conduct; and

(h)  Failing to investigate Ms. Nguyen’s complaints of hamssfnent promptly,
effectively, and sufficiently, and failing to take appropriate prompt,
remedial action in order to prevent the recurrence of the harassment, or to
discipline the individuals who were known to be harassers.

76.  Ms. Nguyen was subjected to a pattern of sexual harassment by Defendants, and
each of them. The pattern and course of sexual harassment to which Ms. Nguyen was subjected
violated FEHA. By reason of the foregoing, Defendants, and each of them, have cormifted
unlawful employment practices which violate FEHA. .

77.  As aproximate result of the conduct of Defendants, and each of them, Ms.
Nguyen has suffered and will to continue to suffer damages in terms of lost wages, lost bonuses,
lost benefits, and other pecuniary loss according to proof. Ms. Nguyen has also suffered and will
continue to suffet physical and emotional injuries, including nervousness, humiliation,
depression, anguish, embarrassment, fright, shock, pain, discomfort and anxiety. The amount of
Ms. Nguyen’s damages will be ascertained at trial, and are in excess of $1,000,000.

l} 78.  In committing the foregoing acts, Defendant Seagal in his individual Defendant
caﬁacnty, and/or Defendant Seagal in his capacity as an employer, and/or Defendant Steamvroller
Prqductxons, and/or Defendant Mojo Priest, and/or DOES 1-50, have been guilty of oppression,
ﬁ-aﬁd or malice under California Civil Code Section 3294, thereby entitling Ms. Nguyen to

— ———————————PLAINTIFFS COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES T
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punitive damages in a sum appropriate to punish and make an example out of each of the
foregoing Defendants,

79.  The acts of oppression, fraud, or malice, were engaged in by employees of
Defendant Seagal in his employer capacity, and/or Defendant Steamroller Productions, and/or
Defendant Mojo Priest, andfor DOES 1-50, Each of the foregoing Defendant employers had
advance knowledge of the unfitness of each employee who acted with malice, oppression, or
fraud and employed him or her with a conscious disregard of the rights or safety of Ms. Nguyen,
and/or authorized or ratificd the wrongful condu& for which an award of punitive damages is
sought, and/or was personally guilty of oppression, fraud, or malice. The advance knowledge
and conscious disregard, authorization, ratification, or act of oppression, fraud, or malice was
committed by or on the part of an officer, director, or managing agent of each of the corporate
employer Defendants, thereby entitling Ms. Nguyen to punitive and exemplary damages against
each corporate employer Defendant in accordance with California Civil Code § 3294 in a sum
appropriate to punish and make an example of each corporate employer Defendant.

80.  Asrcsult of Defendants’ acts as alleged herein, Ms. Nguyen is entitied to
reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs of suit as provided in California Government Code §
12965(b).

VL
ND C OF
EG. G QF FEMAL EX
(Against Defendant Seagal individually, Defendant Seagal in his Capacity As An Employer,
Defendant Steamroller Productions, Defendant Mojo Priest, and Does 1 through 50,
‘ . inclusive) |
¥ 8L Ms Néuyen realleges and incorporates by refexence paragraphs 1 through 80,
méusivc, of this Complaint as though fully set forth herein,
5 82.  California Penal Cade-§ 236.1 provides that:

{.—u\.\r

8
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“Any person who deptives or violates the personal
“ liberty of another with the intent. , , to obtain forced
labor or services is guilty of human trafficking ., . " -

83.  California Civil Code Section 52.5(a) provides that:
“(a) A victim of human trafficking, as defined in Section
236.1 of the Penal Code, may bring a civil action for actual
damages, conpensatory damages, punitive damages,
injunctive relief, any combination of those, or any other
appropriate relief. A prevailing plaintiff may also be

awarded attorneys’ fees and costs.”

84,  California Civil Code Section 52.5(b) provides that a prevailing plaintiffin a
claim under Civil Code Section 52.5 “may be awarded up to three times his or her actual
damages or ten thousand dollars ($10,000), whichever is greater . . .” and may also be awarded
“punitive damages . . . upon proof of the defendant’s malice, oppression, fraud, or duress in
committing the act of human trafficking . ...”

85.  Asmore specifically alleged above, Defendant Seagal in his individual capacity,
| and/or Defendant Seagal in his employer capacity, and/or Defendant Steatnroller Productions,
and/or Defendant Mojo Priest, Inc., and/or DOES 1-50 (individually and/or collectively
“Defendants™), engaged in conduct prohibited by Penal Code Section 236.1 within the State of
l California which deprived or violated Ms, Nguyen’s personal lib&ty with the intent to obtain
‘ forced labor or services.

Y 86 Theunlawhul deprivation or violation of Ms. Nguyen's personal liberty included
thejegsubstantial and sustained restriction of her liberty which was accomplighed through fraud,
de%&it, coercion, violence, duress, menace, or threat of unlawful injury to Ms. Nguyen, under

ciré.lmstances where Ms, Nguyen received or apprehended the threat and reasonably believed

“FLAINTIFFF'S COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES
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that it was likely that Mr, Seagal would carry it out, within the meaning of California Penal
Code Section 236.1(d). |

87.  Ms. Nguyen's forced labor or services that were performed, provided, or obtained
through force, fraud, coercion, or equivalent conduct was the result of conduct by Mr. Seagal
that would reasonably overbear the wﬂl of both Ms. Nguyen or any reasonable person, as
provided in California Penal Code Section 236.1(e).

88.  The conduct of Mr. Seagal and/or the other Defendants, and each of them,
constituted severe forms of trafficking in persons as defined by 22 U.S.C. § 7102(8).

89.  The conduct of Defendant Seagal individually, and/or as an employee of
Defendant Seagal as an employer, and/ot the conduct of Defendant Seagal as an employee of
Defendant Steamroller Productions, and/or the conduct of Defendant Seagal as an employee of
Defendant Mojo Priest, Inc., and/or the conduct of DOES 1-50, made Ms. Nguyen a victim of
human trafficking as defined in Section 236.1 of the California Penal Code, thereby authorizing
Ms. Nguyen to bring a civil action for actual damages, compensatory dmnages, punitive
damages, injunctive relief, any combination thereof, or other appropriate relief, including up to
three times ber actual damages, and in addition thereto, punitive damages, as provided for in
California Civil Code Section 52.5.

90. Asa proximate result of the conduct of Defendants, and each of them, Ms.
Nguyen has suffered and will to continue to suffer damaggs in terms of lost wagcs, lost bonuses,
lost benefits, and other pecmuary Joss according to proof. Ms. Nguyen has also suffered and will
continue to suffer physical and emotional injuties, including nervousness, humiliation,
depression, anguish, embarrassment, fright, shock, pain, discomfort and anxiety. The amount of
Ms. Nguyen s damages will be ascertained at trial, and are in excess of $1,000,000.

u 91. In committing the foregoing acts, Defendant Seagal in his individual Defendant
caé;acity, and/or Defcndant Seagal in his capacity as an employer, and/or Defendant Steamroller
Pl‘f;iﬂucﬁons, and/or Defendant Mojo Priest, and/or DOES 1-50, have been guilty of oppression,
ﬁa;sd, or malice under California Civil Code Section 3294, thereby entitling Ms. Nguyen fo
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punitive damages in a sum appropriate to punish and make an example out of each of the
foregoing Defendants.

92.  The acts of oppressibn, fraud, or malice, were engaged in by employees of
Defendant Seagal in his employer capacity, and/or Defendant Steamroller Productions, and/ox
Defendant Mojo Priest, and/or DOES 1-50. Each of the foregoing Defendant employers had
advance knowledge of the unfitness of each employee who acted with malice, oppression, or
fraud and employed him or her with a conscious disregard of the rights or safety of Ms. Nguyen,
and/or authorized or ratified the wrongful conduet for which an award of punitive damages is
soughi, and/or was personally guilty of oppression, fraud, or matice, The advance knowledge
and conscious disregard, authorization, ratification, or act oi‘ oppression, fraud, or malice was
committed by or on the part of an officex, director, or managing agent of each <;t‘ the corporate
employer Defendants, thereby entitling Ms. Nguyen to punitive and exemplary damages against
cach corporate employer Defendant in accordance with California Civil Code § 3294 in a sum

14 d appropriate to punish and make an example of each corporate employer Defendant.

93.  As result of Defendants’ acts as alleged herein, Ms. Nguyen is entitled to
reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs of suit as provided in California Civil Code § 52.5(a)-

VIL,
THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION
oP S8 IN VIOLATION OF CALIFQ
EMPL NT Us CT

( Against Defendant Seagal in his Capacity as an Employer, Defendant Steamroller
Productions, Defendant Mojo Priest, Inc., and Does 1 through 50)
if 94,  Ms. Nguyen realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations contained
in iaaragtaphs 1 through 93 above, inclusive, of this Complaint as though fully set forth
hei/éin. '
:3 95.  California Government Code Section 12940(k) makes it an unlawful
employment practice for an employer to “fail to take all reasonable steps to prevent

FLAINTIFF'S COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES
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1 discrimination and harassment from occurring.” Defendant Seagal in his capacity as an

2 {| employer, and/or Defendant Steamroller Productions, and/or Defendant Mojo Priest, Inc.,

3 [ and/or Does 1 through 50, violated this provision by, among other things, allowing Mr.

4 ﬁ Seagal 10 sexually harass Ms. Nguyen, failing to investigate Ms. Nguyen’s complaints of

5 § sexual harassment and sexual assault by Mr. Seagal, failing to adequately discipline and stop
6 || Mr. Seagal from continuing to scxually harass and sexually assault Ms. Nguyen, failing to

7 | have in place effective policies prohibiting sexual harassment, failing to enforce anti-sexual
8

harassment policies, allowing Mr. Seagal to treat Ms. Nguyen in a demeaning,

9 || dehumanizing fashion, permitting Mr. Seagal to continue to sexually harass and sexually
10 [| assault Ms. Nguyen, and by the other conduct alleged above.
11 96.  As aresult of the foregoing conduct by Defendant Seagal, and/or Defendant
1‘2 Steamroller Productions, and/or Defendant Mojo Priest, Inc., and/or Defendant Does 1
13 | through 50, Ms. Nguyen was gubjected to sexual harassment as set forth above.
14 ‘ 97.  Asaproximate result of the conduct of Defendants, and each of them, Ms,

15 || Nguyen has suffered and will to continue to suffer damages in terms of lost wages, lost bonuses,
16 ] Jost benefits, and other pecuniary Joss according to proof. Ms. Nguyen has also suffered and ‘will
17 | continue 1o suffer physical and emotional injuries, including nervousness, humiliation,

18 || depression, anguish, embarrassment, fright, shock, pain, discomfort and anxiety. “The amount of
19 [| Ms. Nguyen’s damages will be ascertained at trial, and are in excess of $1,000,000.

20 08,  In committing the foregoing acts, Defendant Seagal in his individual Defendant
21 | capacity, and/or Defendant Seagal in his capacity as an employer, and/or Defendant Steamroller
22 | Productions, and/or Defendant Mojo Priest, and/or DOES 1-50, have been guilty of oppression,
23 I fraud, or malice under California Civil Code Section 3294, thereby entitling Ms. Nguyen to

24 puﬁtive damages in a sum appropriate fo punish and make an example out of each of the

25 ‘ forego:ng Defendants.
£-

26 ,.* 99.  The acts of oppression, fraud, or malice, were engaged in by employees of
27 D%endant Seagal in his employer capacity, and/or Defendant Steamroller Productions, and/or
28 ¥ Defendant Mojo Priest, and/or DOES 1-50. Each of the foregoing Defendant employers had

—iar
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advance knowledge of the unfitness of each employee who acted with malice, oppression, o1
fraud and employed him or her with a conscious disregard of the rights or safety of Ms. Nguyen,
and/or authorized or ratified the wrongful conduct for which an award of punitive damages is
sought, and/or was personally guilty of oppression, fraud, or malice. The advance knowledge
and conscious disregard, authorization, ratification, or act of oppression, fraud, or malice was
committed by or on the patt of an officer, director, or managing agent of each of the corporate
employer Defendants, thereby entitling Ms. Nguyen 1o punitive and exemplary damages against
each corporate employer Defendant in accordance with California Civil Code § 3294 in a sum
appropriate to punish and rake an example of each corporate employer Defendant.

100.  As result of Defendants’ acts as alleged herein, Ms. Nguyen is entitled to

reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs of suit as provided in California Government Code §
12065(b).

VIIL
0 CAUSE O N FO ALI
(California Government Code Section 12940(h))
(Against Defendants Steven Seagal in his Capacity as an Employer, Steamroller
Productions, Mojo Priest, Inc., and Does 1-50, inclusive)

101. Ms. Nguyen realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 100,
inclusive, of this Complaint as though fully set forth herein. .

102, California Government Code Section 12940(h) prohibits retaliation against
employees for opposing illegal sexual harassment and discrimination, because employees refuse
to consent 10 illegal sexual harassment or discrimination, becausc employees have complained

4 t illegal sexual harasstaent or Jiscrimination, or because an employee has refused to waive
er’nghts 1o legal remedies for illegal acts of sexual harassment or discrimination.
i: 103. The regulations implementing the anti-retaliation provisions of FEHA make it

unﬁwful for an employer “to demote, suspend, reduce, fail to hire or congider for hire, fail to

give equal consideration in making employment decisions, fail to treat impartially in the contcxt
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of any recommendations for subsequent employment which the employer or other covered entity
may make, adversely affect working conditions, or otherwise deny any employment benefit to an
individual . . . in retaliation for any of the protected conduct as set forth in the preceding
paragraph.

104.  As set forth in detail above, Ms. Nguyen complamed about illegal sexual
harassment and Mr. Seagal’s repeated sexual assaults, demanded that Mr. Seagal’s illegal
conduct cease, refused Mr. Seagal’s repeated demands for sex, opposed his physical sexual
attacks before, during, and after their occurrance, and refused Defendants’ demands that she
waive her legal rights under FEHA.

105. Both Mr. Seagal and Mrx, Dang were supervisors and had the authority, in the
intercst of Defendant Seagal in his capacity as an employer, and/or Defendant Steamroller
Productions, and/or Defendant Mojo Priest, Inc., agd/or Defendant Does 1 through 50, to hire,
transfer, suspend, promote, discharge, reward, and/or discipline other employees, or to

responsibly direct them, or to recommend certain actions with the use of independent judgment.
The foregoing Defendants and each of them, knew or should have known that Mr. Seagal and/or
Mr. Dang were retaliating against Ms. Nguyen for engaging in protected activities.

106. As alleged in detail above, Ms. Nguyen was subjected to harassing and
intimidating conduct after complaining about sexual harassment, and/or after refusing to permit
continued sexual harassment, and/or after refusing to waive her legally protectod rights to be free
from haragsment, and/or after she refused to waive her Tights to the legal remedies provided by
FEHA. After Ms. Nguyen engaged in the foregoing protected activities, the retaliatory actions
of the employer Defendants, and cach of them, included:

(a) Increasing the severity of Mr. Seagal’s sexual assaults upon Ms. Nguyen

" sy

in response to ¢ach of her complaints;

3 i L s

(b)  Refusing to permit Ms. Nguyen to return fo Los Angeles when she

~
¥

/ pleaded to do so because they were afraid that she would exercise her
i
B legal rights;
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(¢)  After Ms. Nguyen retumed to and was living in California, refusing to
return her personal belongings in their possession unless she signed a
release of her legal rights under FEHA;

(@)  After Plaintiff returned to and was living in California, continuing to
confiscate her laptop computer and refusing to return it;

(¢)  Refusing to pay Plaintiff het full wages eamed in California as required
under California wage/hour law.

107. The adverse employment actions as described above were done in retaliation for

10 ,l Plaintiff's activity ptotected by FEHA.

108. As a proximate result of the conduct of Defendants, and each of them, Ms.
Nguyen has suffered and will to continue to suffer damages in terms of lost wages, lost bonuses,
{ost benefits, and other pecuniary loss according to proof. Ms. Nguyen has also suffered and will
continue to suffer physical and emotional injuries, including nervousness, hurniliation,
depression, anguish, embarrassment, fright, shock, pain, discomfort and anxiety. The amount of
Ms. Nguyen’s damages will be ascertained at trial, and are in excess of $1,000,000.

109. In committing the foregoing acts, Defendant Seagal in his individual Defendant
capacity, and/or Defendant Seagal in his capacity as an employer, and/or Defendant Steamroller
Productions, and/or Defendant Mojo Priest, and/or DOES 1-50, have been guilty of oppression,
fraud, or malice under California Civil Code Section 3294, thereby entitling Ms. Nguyen to
punitive damages in a sum appropriate to punish and make an example out of each of the
foregoing Defendants.

110.  The acts of oppression, fraud, or malice, were engaged in by employees of
Déﬁendant Seagal in his employer capacity, and/or Defendant Steamroller Productions, and/or
Dei,'endant Mojo Priest, and/or DOES 1-50. Each of the foregoing Defendant employers had
adyance knowledge of the unfitness of each employee who acted with malice, oppression, or

@d and employed him or her with a conscious disregard of the rights or safety of Ms. Nguyen,

and/or authorized or ratified the wrongful conduct for which an award of punitive damages is
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sought, and/or was personally guilty of oppression, fraud, or malice. The advance knowledge
and conscious disregard, authorization, ratification, or act of oppression, fraud, or malice was

committed by or on the part of an officer, director, or managing agent of each of the corporate
employer Defendants, thereby entitling Ms. Nguyen to punitive and exemplary damages against
each corporate employer Defendant in accordance with California Civil Code § 3294 in a sum
appropriate to punish and make an example of each corporate employer Defendant.

111.  As result of Defendants® acts as alleged herein, Ms. Nguyen is entitled to

reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs of suit as provided in California Government Cade §
12965(b).

X
CAU CTIO
TERMINATION IN VIOLATION OF CPOLI
(Against Defendants Steven Seagal in his Capacity as an Employer, Steamroller
Productions, Mojo Priest, Inc., and Does 1 through 50)

112. Ms. Nguyen realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 111,
inclusive, of this Complaint as though fully set forth herain.

113. Ms. Nguyen was wrongfully terminated from her employment with Defendant
Seagal in his capacity as an employer, and/or wrth Defendant Steamroller Productions, and/or
with Defendant Mojo Priest, Inc., and/or with Defendant Does 1 through 50, beeause she refused
to pazticipate in, protested, opposed, and refused to waive rights afforded by (1) anti-
discrimination, anti-retaliation, and anti-harasament laws; and (2) laws forbidding the
transportation and trafficking. of females for sex, in violation of public policy embodied in the
statites and constitutions of the State of California, and/or of the United States. These public-
poécies are set forth, among other places, in Article I, Section 8 of the California Constitution,
thegi’.‘,alifonﬁa Fair Employment And Housing Act, California Government Code Sections 12900
Iﬂ at. ;'.!"yzq., Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. Sections 2000¢ et. seg., the Mann
Act, 18 U.S.C. Sections 2421 ef. seq., and Califomia Civil Code Section 52.5.
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114. As a proximate result of the conduct of Defendants, and each of them, Ms.
Nguyen has suffered and will to continue to suffer damages in terms of lost wages, lost bonuses,
lost benefits, and othér pecuniary l0ss according to proof. Ms. Nguyen has also suffered and will
continue to suffer physical and emotional injuries, including nervousness, humiliation,
depression, anguish, embarrassment, fright, shock, pain, discomfort and anxiety. The amount of
Ms. Nenyen’s actual damages will be ascertained at trial, and are in excess of $1,000,000.

115. In committing the foregoing acts, Defendant Seagal in his capacity as an

employer, and/or Defendant Steamroller Productions, and/or Defendant Mojo Priest, and/or

o R ~J (= A A W N

DOES 1-50, have been guilty of oppression, fraud, or malice under California Civil Code

10 | Section 3294, thereby entitling Ms. Nguyen to punitive damages in a sum appropriate to punish
11 1] and make an example out of each of the foregoing Defendants.

12 116. The acts of oppression, fraud, or malice, were engaged in by employees of

13 & Defendant Seagal in his craployer capacity, and/or Defendant Steamroller Productions, and/or
14 ‘ Defendant Mojo Priest, and/or DOES 1-50. Each of the foregoing Defendant employers had

15 {| advance knowledge of the unfitness of each employee who acted with malice, oppression, Or

16 || fraud and employed him or her with a conscious disregard of @e’ rights or safety of Ms. Nguyen,
17 | and/or authorized or ratified the wrongful conduct for which an award of punitive damages is
18 || sought, and/or was personally guilty of oppression, fraud, or malice. The advance knowledge
19 | and conscious disregard, authorization, ratification, or act of oppression, fraud, or malice was

20 || committed by or on the part of an officer, director, or managing agent of each of the corporate

21 || employer Defendants, thereby entitling Ms, Nguyen to punitive and exemplary damages against
22 || each corporate employer Defendant in accordance with California Civil Code § 3294 in a sum
23 || appropriate to punish and make an example of each corporate eroployer Defendant.

24|l /7%
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® ®
X.
SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION

F RE TONS ABOUT EMPLO NT
(Violation of California Labor Code Sections 970 and 972)

(Agninst Defendants Seagal Personally, Seagal in his Capacity as an Employer, Steamroller
Productions, Mojo Priest, Ine., and Docs 1 through 50)

117. Ms. Nguyen realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 116,
inclusive, of this Complaint as though fully set forth herein.

118. California Labor Code Section 970 provides that:
“No person, or agent or officer thereof, directly or
indirectly, shall influence, persuade, or engage any
person to change . . . from any place within this
State to any place outside, for the purpose of
working in any branch of labor, through or by
means of knowingly false represeptatims. whether

spoken, written, or advertised in printed form,
concerning either (a) the kind, character, or
existence of such work for] (b) the length of time

. such work will last, or the compensation
therefor....”

119. Pursuant to California Labor Code Section 972, “any person, or agent or officer

‘ thereof, who violates any provision of Section 970 is liable to the party aggrieved, in a civil

actipn, for double damages resulting from such misreprescntations . . . y

‘:: 120. Defendant Seagal in his individual capacity, and/or Defendant Seagal in his

caﬁicity as an employer, and/or Defendant Sreamroller Productions, and/or Defendant Mojo
Pri%gt, Inc., and/or Defendant Does 1 through 50, “through or by means of knowingly false

representations . . .”, which were “spoken, written, or advertised in printed form . . .” to
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Ms. Nguyen in Califorie, relied upon by Ms. Nguyen in California, and which damaged Ms.
Nguyen in California and elsewhere, influenced, persuaded, and/or engaged Ms. Nguyen to
change from California to Louisiana for the bmposc of working in the job of Executive
Asgistant. |

121. Defendants, and each of them, influenced, persuaded, or engaged Ms. Nguyen to
change from California to Louisiana through or by knowingly false representations madc, relicd
upon, and causing damage in, California concerning the job duties she would perform, the length
of time such wark would last, and/or the compensation therefor.

122. At the time Defendants, and each of them, made misrepresenations to Ms.
| Nguyen, Ms, Nguyen did not know the falsity of the representations and relied upon the
representations to her detriment,

123. Through their conduct as specificaily in paragraphs 12 - 69 above, Defendants,
and each of them, and their employees, agents, and officers, violated the provisions of California
Labor Code Section 970, and are liable to Ms. Nguyen in this eivil action for double damages

ﬁ resulting from such misrepresentations pursuant to Labor Code Section 972.

124.  As a proximate result of the conduct of Defendants, and each of them, Ms.
Nguyen has suffered and will to continue to suffer damages in terms of lost wages, iost bonuses,
lost benefits, and other pecuniary loss according to proof. Ms. Nguyen has also suffered and will
continue to suffer physical and emotional injuries, including nexvousness, humiliation,
depression, anguish, embarrassment, fright, shock, pain, discomfort and anxiety. The amount of
Ms. Nguyen’s damages will be ascertained at trial, and are in excess of $1,000,000.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for judgment as set forth below,

PRAYER
Y 1. For general damages, according to proof, on each cause of action for
wh‘{?h such damages are available;

d 2. For special damages, according to proof, on each cause of action for
3 ‘
whigh such damages are available;
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3. For punitive damages, according to proof, for each cause of action for

which such damages are available;

4, For double damages for the Sixth Cause of Action for Violation of
California Labor Code Sections 970 and 972;

5. For pre-judgment and post-judgment interest according to law,
6. For reasonabie aworneys’ foes incvrred in this action on those causes of

action for which such fees are recoverable under the applicable law;
7. For costs of suit incurred in this action; and

8. For such other and further relief as the Coust deems just and proper.

Dated: April 12,2010 . BONONI LAW GROUP, LLP

A e

William S. Waldo

Attorneys for Plaintiff
Kayden Nguyen
Y
‘}
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Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury on all causes of action alleged herein in the

Complaint For Damages.
Dated: April 12,2010 BONONI LAW GROUP, LLP
By: a/yu )/ L\/c«é/“/‘
William S, Waldo
Attomeys for Plaintiff
Kayden Nguyen
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